FILED

JUL 1 3 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

NO. 318052 and 318095

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NATHANIEL (NATE) BOISSO, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF CHARLES BOISSO,

Petitioner,

v.

KEVIN PORTER,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas W. Nicholson, WSBA #24854 Lathrop, Winbauer, Harrel, Slothower & Denison, LLP Attorneys for Respondent P.O. Box 1088/201 W. 7th Avenue Ellensburg WA 98926 (509) 925-6916

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Nathaniel Boisso, personal representative of the Estate of Charles Boisso ("Boisso"), asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' published decision terminating review designated in Part B below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Boisso seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals (Division Three), filed June 16, 2015 (No. 31805-2-III (consolidated with No. 31809-5-III)). No motion for reconsideration was sought before the Court of Appeals. A copy of the Published Decision is attached at Appendix A hereto.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

No. 1: Does a claim for specific performance of an alleged executory real estate contract constitute a claim against the estate of a deceased person for purposes of chapter 11.40 RCW?

<u>Sub-Issue</u>: If so, did the Court of Appeals err in holding that respondent's claim for specific performance of an alleged executory real estate contract with the decedent was not a claim against the decedent's estate, and thus did not constitute a creditor's claim under chapter 11.40 RCW?

No. 2: Once letters of administration have been issued in a probate proceeding, must a rejected creditor's claim be filed in the county where the letters of administration were issued, within 30 days of rejection of the claim, or be forever barred?

Sub-Issue: Read together, do RCW 11.40.100(1) and RCW 11.96A.050(5) compel a finding that "the proper court" for filing suit on a rejected creditor's claim is the county where letters of administration have been issued?

<u>Sub-Issue</u>: If so, does the failure to file suit in said county, within the 30-day statute of limitations period, forever bar suit on the rejected creditor's claim? Or, does filing suit in another county within the 30-day deadline toll the statute of limitations?

<u>Sub-Issue</u>: Does the Court of Appeals' opinion undermine, if not totally defeat, the intent of the Legislature, as reflected in the probate code, to limit claims against the decedent's estate, expedite closing the estate, and facilitate distribution of the decedent's property?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Kevin Porter ("Porter"), asserted claims against the decedent arising from an alleged executory contract to purchase the decedent's real property located in Pierce County, Washington. The decedent was a resident of Kittitas County at the time of his death, and the probate of his estate was commenced in the Kittitas County Superior Court in

2

¹ See Porter's Creditor's Claim (CP 1-2 in Appeal No. 318095), a copy of which is attached at Appendix B hereto.

November 2012.² At the time of the decedent's death, Porter still owed money on the purchase price of the alleged real estate contract.³

On **November 13, 2012**, letters of administration were granted by the Kittitas County Superior Court.⁴ On **December 17, 2012**, pursuant to RCW 11.40.070, Porter filed a Creditor's Claim in the Kittitas County probate action, asserting: "Upon payment of principal balance due, the estate [is requested to] execute a deed in and to the property [in Pierce County] conveying the property to the Claimant." Porter's Creditor's Claim further stated the amount of his claim against the decedent was "\$116,900".

On **December 31, 2012**, the Personal Representative (Boisso) rejected Porter's Creditor's Claim, and provided the following written warning: "Pursuant to RCW 11.40.100, you must bring suit in *the proper Court* against the Personal Representative within thirty days . . . *otherwise your claim will be forever barred*." (Emphasis added.)⁷

On **January 29, 2013**, Porter filed suit against Boisso in the *Pierce County Superior Court* on his rejected Creditor's Claim.⁸ Porter's rejected

² CP 25 (Appeal No. 318052).

³ See Appendix B hereto.

⁴CP 25 (Appeal No. 318052).

⁵ See Appendix B hereto.

⁶ *Id*

⁷ See the Notice of Rejection of Creditor's Claim (CP 5 in Appeal No. 318095).

⁸ See the Pierce County Complaint (CP 22-35 in Appeal No. 318095), a copy of which is attached at Appendix C hereto.

Creditor's Claim in the Kittitas County Superior Court probate action and his Pierce County Complaint are virtually mirror images of each other.⁹

On March 22, 2013, oral argument was heard on Boisso's motion to dismiss Porter's Pierce County action, which was based on two primary grounds: first, because Porter's Complaint on his rejected Creditor's Claim was a "matter" governed by TEDRA, the only proper venue for bringing suit was Kittitas County; second, under the "priority of action rule", the Kittitas County Superior Court already had jurisdiction over the cause; therefore, as the second-filed action, the Pierce County Superior Court was required to concede jurisdiction to that court. Pierce County Superior Court Judge Tollefson agreed, and on April 12, 2013, he stayed all further proceedings, and ordered Porter to litigate his claims in the Kittitas County action.

Later on **April 12, 2013**, Boisso filed a TEDRA petition in the Kittitas County Superior Court, seeking to bar all of Porter's claims under RCW 11.40.100(1) and RCW 11.96A.050(5), because Porter failed to bring suit on his rejected Creditor's Claim in the "proper court" (the Kittitas County Superior Court) within the mandatory 30-day deadline.¹²

Instead of answering the TEDRA petition, Porter filed a motion to

⁹ See Creditor's Claim (Appendix B hereto) and the Complaint (Appendix C hereto).

¹⁰ See CP 95-98 in Appeal No. 318095; see also, id. at 11.

¹¹ Judge Tollefson's order (CP 62-63 in Appeal No. 318095).

¹² See CP 6-40 in Appeal No. 318095.

transfer venue and jurisdiction of his stayed Pierce County action to Kittitas County. 13 In granting the motion, on May 3, 2013, Judge Tollefson made the following findings in an order prepared by Porter's counsel: "Pursuant to [the] Court's Order Staying All Further Proceedings dated April 12, 2013, Plaintiff is required to litigate whatever issues and claims concerning the alleged contract in Kittitas County where the probate was started This action is of a nature that requires change of venue and jurisdiction to Kittitas County, the County in which the probate of the Estate of Charles Boisso was filed."¹⁴ The Pierce County Superior Court file was then transferred to the Kittitas County Superior Court, which resulted in two separate actions in the same court involving the same subject matter (Boisso's TEDRA petition filed April 12, 2013 (CP 6-21 in Appeal No. 318095) and the subsequently transferred Pierce County action (CP 22-35 in Appeal No. 318095)).

On May 28, 2013, the Kittitas County Superior Court granted Boisso's TEDRA petition, and entered an order and judgment dismissing Porter's claims as time-barred under RCW 11.40.100(1). On July 3, 2013, the Kittitas County Superior Court dismissed Porter's transferred Pierce County action on the grounds of res judicata and collateral estoppel. 16 Porter then ap-

 13 See Judge Tollefson's order, CP 66 at ¶¶1.4-1.5 (Appeal No. 318095). 14 CP 65-67 in Appeal No. 318095.

¹⁵ See Order at CP 300-302 and Judgment at 318-21 (Appeal No. 318095).

¹⁶ See Order at CP 28-29 and Judgment at CP 31-33 (Appeal No. 318052).

pealed both trial court decisions to Division Three of the Court of Appeals, which consolidated both cases.¹⁷

E. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In reversing the trial court, the Court of Appeals erred in finding that Porter's claim for specific performance of his alleged executory real estate contract with the decedent was not a claim against the decedent or his estate within the meaning of the non-claim statute, chapter 11.40 RCW. The Court of Appeals thus held this claim was not subject to the 30-day limitations period for filing suit in "the proper court", as required under RCW 11.40.100(1). In doing so, the Court of Appeals failed to address the interplay between chapters 11.40 and 11.96A (the Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act, or "TEDRA"). In enacting TEDRA in 1999, however, the Legislature made clear that the provisions of TEDRA were intended to supplement the provisions of chapter 11.40. *See* RCW 11.96A.080(2). TEDRA was enacted as a special proceeding for the resolution of *all matters* involving the assets of a decedent's estate. RCW 11.96A.010.

Porter's claim for specific performance of his alleged executory real estate contract is clearly a "matter" within the purview of TEDRA. *See* RCW 11.96A.030(3). It is thus a claim against the decedent under chapter 11.40 RCW, and subject to the 30-day limitations period under RCW 11.40.100(1).

¹⁷ See Appendix A hereto.

This conclusion is further driven home by the fact that title to the decedent's Pierce County real property remained with the decedent as long as Porter's alleged contract to purchase the real property remained executory. *See, e.g., Tomlinson v. Clarke*, 118 Wn.2d 498, 504, 825 P.2d 706 (1992).

Moreover, once letters of administration have been issued in a probate proceeding in one county, all further proceedings must be had only in that county, not somewhere else. *See* RCW 11.96A.050(5). Compliance with the requirements of RCW 11.40.100(1) and RCW 11.96A.050(5) create mandatory, bright-line rules requiring strict compliance. Thus, Porter's failure to timely file suit in the proper court (i.e., the Kittitas County Superior Court where letters of administration had been issued) is fatal to his claims against the decedent. To hold otherwise, as the Court of Appeals did, defeats the intent of the Legislature, as embodied in the probate code. *See Nelson v. Schnautz*, 141 Wn. App., 446, 475, 170 P.3d 69 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1054 (2008).

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

1. This Case Meets the Requirements for Review.

This case presents an issue of first impression and state-wide significance regarding the statute of limitations for filing suit on a rejected creditor's claim under RCW 11.40.100(1). The statute plainly states: "If the personal representative rejects a claim, . . . the claimant must bring suit against the

personal representative *within thirty days* . . . in *the proper court* . . . or the claim will be forever barred." (Emphasis added.) The primary issues presented are these: What is "the proper court" for filing suit on a rejected creditor's claim under RCW 11.40.100(1)? Does filing suit in an "improper court" toll the 30-day limitations period?¹⁸

For the reasons stated in the above Summary of Argument, the issues presented involve a significant question of law and substantial public interest. If the Court of Appeals' opinion is allowed to stand, it would undermine the legislative intent in enacting TEDRA as part of the probate code. "The intent of the probate code is to limit claims against the decedent's estate, expedite closing the estate, and facilitate distribution of the decedent's property." *Nelson*, 141 Wn. App. at 475 (citing *Bellevue Sch. Dist. v. Brazier Constr. Co.*, 103 Wn.2d 111, 120, 691 P.2d 178 (1984)); *see also*, RCW 11.96A.010, .020, .050(5), .090, .100, .260, and .270, which further evince the legislative intent to preferably resolve all disputes over a decedent's estate in a single judicial proceeding.

Accordingly, Boisso asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals and affirm the trial court's judgment dismissing, as time-barred, all claims

¹⁸ Because it erred in disregarding the fundamental interplay between chapters 11.40 and 11.96A RCW, and wrongly held that timely filing suit in *any superior court* meets RCW 11.40.100(1)'s requirement of filing suit in "*the proper court*", the Court of Appeals did not address Porter's "tolling" argument, finding that it did not apply in this case. *See* Appendix A at 6, n. 2.

asserted in Porter's Creditor's Claim (Court of Appeals Case No. 318095), and the trial court's judgment dismissing Porter's complaint on his rejected Creditor's Claim (Court of Appeals Case No. 318052).

2. A Claim for Specific Performance of an Executory Real Estate Contract is a "Matter" Governed by TEDRA.

TEDRA was enacted as a special proceeding for the resolution of *all* matters involving the assets of a decedent's estate, which would include the real property in question here. RCW 11.96A.010 sets forth the Legislature's intent in enacting TEDRA: "The overall purpose of this chapter is to set forth generally applicable statutory provisions for *the resolution of disputes and other matters* involving trusts and estates in a single chapter under Title 11 RCW." (Emphasis added.)

RCW 11.96A.020(1) states the clear intent of the Legislature to grant extremely broad authority to the superior courts under TEDRA: "It is the intent of the legislature that the courts shall have full and ample power and authority under this title to administer and settle: (a) *All matters*, concerning the estates and assets of . . . deceased persons " (Emphasis added.)

RCW 11.96A.030(3) broadly defines "matter" to include "any issue, question, or dispute involving . . . any non-probate asset, or with respect to any other asset or property interest passing at death". (Emphasis added.) This "may include, without limitation, questions relating to (i) [t]he construction of wills, trusts, community property agreements, and other writings "

RCW 11.96A.080(1) expressly allows "a judicial proceeding *for the declaration of rights* or legal relations *with respect to any matter*, as defined by RCW 11.96A.030". (Emphasis added.) TEDRA thus grants "plenary powers to the trial court". *In re McKean*, 144 Wn. App. 333, 343, 183 P.3d 317 (2008). This plenary power extends to the probate court under TEDRA. *Estate of Black*, 116 Wn. App. 492, 498, 66 P.3d 678 (2003).

Porter seeks specific performance compelling Boisso to honor his alleged contract to purchase the decedent's real property, which is an asset of the decedent's estate. He also seeks a declaration of the parties' rights under the alleged contract. Alternatively, he seeks monetary damages against the Estate. Each of these issues involves a "*matter*" under TEDRA.

3. Porter's Claim for Specific Performance is a Transitory Action That Was Required to be Filed Against the Personal Representative in Kittitas County, Not a Local, In Rem Action That Could be Filed in Pierce County.

"A real estate contract is an agreement for the purchase and sale of real property in which legal title to the property is retained by the seller as security for payment of the purchase price. Legal title does not pass to the purchaser until the contract price is paid in full." *Tomlinson*, 118 Wn.2d at 504. This Court has "long recognized the distinction between jurisdiction to adjudicate title to land and jurisdiction to settle the parties' personal interests in real estate." *In re Kowalewski*, 163 Wn.2d 542, 548-49, 182 P.3d 426 (2008). Thus, "'a suit for specific performance of a contract to convey real

estate is a transitory one [which] affects the parties to the action personally, but does not determine title." *Id.* at 549 (quoting *Rosenbaum v. Evans*, 63 Wash. 506, 508-09, 115 P. 1054 (1911)).

In holding Porter's claim was not against the decedent, the Court of Appeals erred in mischaracterizing Porter's interest in the decedent's real property. The cases relied upon by the Court of Appeals involved community property interests, or similar situations, in which a party was seeking to remove his or her ownership interest in the real property from the inventory of the estate's assets. Here, by contrast, until Porter paid off the balance of the purchase price, his alleged interest in the real property was no different than that of a tenant. Unlike a spouse's one-half interest in title to community property, Porter had no such interest in title to the decedent's property. Thus, his suit for specific performance, being transitory in nature, had to be brought in the Kittitas County Superior Court, where the decedent died and where the personal representative rejected his creditor's claim. RCW 11.96A.050(5).

4. Porter's Failure to Timely File Suit in the Kittitas County Superior Court Forever Bars His Claim.

The issue here turns upon the interplay between RCW 11.40 and RCW 11.96A. The analysis must begin with the well-settled maxim of statutory construction: "Statutes relating to the same subject matter are to be considered together to ascertain legislative policy and intent." *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 926, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990). This maxim applies with full

force and effect to RCW 11.40 and RCW 11.96A. Both statutes are part of Title 11 RCW; and RCW 11.96A.080(2) clearly states: "The provisions of this chapter should not supersede, *but shall supplement*, any otherwise applicable provisions and procedures contained in this title, including without limitation those contained in chapter 11.40 " (Italics added.)

Chapter 11.40 RCW governs claims against a decedent's estate. RCW 11.40.010 plainly states: "A person having a claim against the decedent may not maintain an action on the claim unless . . . the claimant has presented the claim as set forth in this chapter." RCW 11.40.070 governs the presentation of a claim against a decedent's estate. RCW 11.40.100 sets forth the procedure that must be followed once a creditor's claim has been rejected. Subsection (1) clearly states that suit against the personal representative must be brought "in the proper court" within 30 days "or the claim will be forever barred." The statute is unambiguous. *See Estate of Stover*, 178 Wn. App. 550, 558, 315 P.3d 579 (2013).

"The legislature is presumed to enact laws with full knowledge of existing laws." *Thurston County v. Gorton*, 85 Wn.2d 133, 138, 530 P.2d 309 (1975). Thus, when the Legislature enacted RCW 11.96A.050(5) as part of TEDRA, it must be presumed that the Legislature was aware that this statute and RCW 11.40.100(1) both addressed the issue of where a creditor's claim must be filed. *See, e.g., Bennett*, 113 Wn.2d at 926.

Under TEDRA, therefore, the words "the proper court" must have reference to something more than just the superior court of any county in this state. Before TEDRA, chapter 11.96A RCW was enacted, by statutory definition, a creditor's claim had to be filed in the superior court. *See* RCW 2.08.010 (every superior court has "original jurisdiction in all cases [involving] all matters of probate"). Because chapter 11.96A RCW supplements chapter 11.40, determining "the proper court" for filing suit on a rejected creditor's claim requires reference to RCW 11.96A.050 (5), which mandates in relevant part: "Once letters testamentary or of administration have been granted in the state of Washington, *all orders, settlements, trials, and other proceedings under this title* shall be had or made in the county in which such letters have been granted." (Emphasis added.)

Because letters of administration were granted by the Kittitas County Superior Court before Porter submitted his rejected Creditor's Claim, he was required to bring suit in the Kittitas County Superior Court. He did not have the option of bringing suit in Pierce County, or anywhere else.

To hold otherwise would render meaningless or superfluous RCW 11.40.100's use of the words "in the proper court". In fact, it would require striking them from the statute altogether. This would, however, violate several cardinal rules of statutory construction. "In interpreting a statute, it is the duty of the court to ascertain and give effect to the intent and purpose of the

legislature, as expressed in the act." *Burlington Northern v. Johnston*, 89 Wn.2d 321, 326, 572 P.2d 1085 (1977). "Related statutory provisions are interpreted in relation to each other and all provisions harmonized." *C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 708, 985 P.2d 262 (1999). "Statutes must be interpreted and construed so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham*, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). "A statute that is clear on its face is not subject to judicial interpretation." *Clark v. Falling*, 92 Wn. App. 805, 810, 965 P.2d 644 (1998).

The unambiguous words - "the proper court" - clearly refer to a single court. Had the Legislature intended that suit on a rejected creditor's claim could be brought in any superior court, it would not have added the words, "in the proper court", to RCW 11.40.100(1). Instead of stating, "the claimant must bring suit *in the proper court* against the personal representative within thirty days", the statute would simply state: "the claimant must bring suit against the personal representative within thirty days."

5. RCW 11.40.100(1) and RCW 11.96A.050(5) are Compulsory, Bright-Line Rules Requiring Strict Compliance; Therefore, the 30-Day Deadline for Bringing Suit in "the Proper Court" Cannot be Tolled by Bringing Suit in Another Court Within the Deadline.

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