RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Sep 28, 2015, 3:52 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

E	OP _
RECEIVE	D BY E-MAIL

NO. 91959-3

#### **SUPREME COURT**

# STATE OF WASHINGTON

# KEVIN PORTER, Respondent

v.

NATHANIAL (NATE) BOISSO, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF CHARLES BOISSO, Petitioner

IN RE THE ESTATE OF CHARLES R. BOISSO

ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephen A. Burnham, WSBA #13270 Attorney for Respondent, Kevin Porter 317 S. Meridian Puyallup, WA 98371 (253) 848-3513

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

# A. Request for Review should be Denied.

The Respondent, Kevin Porter ("Porter"), requests this court decline the Petition for Review because it does not meet the legal standards for review under RAP 13.4(b) because there are no legal issues of state-wide significance, or conflicts between appellant court decisions or constitutional issues for this Court to consider. After briefing was complete in this case at the Court of Appeals, this Supreme Court decided Ralph v. State Dept of Natural Resources, 182 Wn.2d 242, 267, 343 P.3d 342 (2014) (Wiggins, J., dissenting) (citing cases), in which a fivemember majority overruled the line of cases that were the primary issue in the original appeal, which was whether RCW 4.12.010 is a jurisdictional or venue statute. Prior to this Court's decision in Ralph a long line of cases in Washington continually affirmed that RCW 4.12.010 governs jurisdiction affecting local actions and that local actions commenced in the wrong county must be dismissed due to lack of jurisdiction. In Ralph the Court overruled prior case authority concluding that that RCW 4.12.010(1) prescribes only venue, not jurisdiction. Ralph at 259. This prior Washington case authority was the reason Porter commenced his action in Pierce County Superior Court and was the primary legal issue at the Court of Appeals.

The *Ralph* decision resolved the issue of whether filing in any Superior Court invokes the jurisdiction of the Superior Court.

In Young, we explained that article IV, section 6 prevents the legislature from limiting subject matter jurisdiction "as among superior courts." [Young v. Clark] 149 Wn.2d at 134. This is so because under article IV, section 6, "all superior courts ... have the same authority to adjudicate the same 'types of controversies." Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 150 Wn.2d 310, 317, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003). In Dougherty, "[w]e reject[ed] the theory that subject matter jurisdiction of the superior court varies from county to county" since "[t]he 'type of case' is the same whether it is heard in Thurston County or some other county." Id. And, we have since affirmed that "[w]here one state resident sues another in tort, the superior courts of Washington State have subject [\*253] matter jurisdiction." Williams v. Leone & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 730, 254 P.3d 818 (2011). Ralph at 253 - 253

Probate jurisdiction and venue was also resolved specifically by the Ralph decision.

And, in probate matters, the legislature has given to "[t]he superior court of every county" jurisdiction, <u>RCW 11.96A.040(1)</u>, to resolve "[a]ll matters concerning the estates and assets of incapacitated, missing, and deceased persons," <u>RCW 11.96A.020(1)(a)</u>, and states venue is proper in "any county the petitioner selects," <u>RCW 11.96A.050(4)</u>. Ralph at 256.

There is no reason to further debate the issue of whether filing in a Superior court invokes the jurisdiction of the Superior Courts. Therefore the basis of the Kittitas County Superior Court's orders that were at issue in the Court of Appeals – that Porter's filing in Pierce County Superior Court did not invoke Superior Court jurisdiction because that was Pierce

County Superior Court was not a "proper court" – can no longer be debated based on *Ralph*.

Under the *Ralph* analysis no statutory language including TEDRA statutory language, should be read as restricting the jurisdictional authority of the Superior Courts. Therefore, Porter properly and timely filed his action against the Estate of Boissio in the Pierce County Superior Court within any applicable statutory limitation periods including the nonclaim statute RCW 11.40.100(1).

## B. Summary of Case

The gravamen of Porter's appeals are his claims against the Estate of Charles Boisso arising from a 1999 agreement between Porter and the decedent, Charles Bossio ("Boisso") for the purchase of real property located in Pierce County, Washington. Porter entered into a real estate contract agreement with Boisso in August 1999 to purchase two - one-and-one-half-acre - parcels of real property located at 14519 - 245th Street East, Kapowsin, Pierce County, Washington, known as Pierce County tax parcels number 0418245006 and 0418245008 ("Pierce County Properties"). Porter paid \$2,000 down and over the years made payments to Boisso of over \$116,000 on this contract in addition to making substantial improvements to the Pierce County Properties.

Following Boisso's death in 2012 and the commencement of the

Probate Case in November 2012, Porter recorded a Notice of Claim of Interest against the Pierce County Properties in the Pierce County records and also filed a Creditor's Claim in the Probate Case requesting that the Estate acknowledge Porter's claim of interests in the Pierce County Properties and agree to deliver a deed to Porter upon the pay off the real estate contract. The Estate rejected Porter's claims by Notice of Rejection dated December 31, 2012 and Porter commenced the Pierce County Case against the Estate on January 29, 2013 disputing the rejection of his claims against the Estate and requesting specific enforcement of his real estate contract, declaration of his rights, title and interest in the Pierce County Properties and alternatively the equitable claim against the Estate for unjust enrichment.

Porter filed his complaint against the Estate in Pierce County Superior Court because of the jurisdictional requirement of RCW 4.12.010(1), which, prior to this Court's decision in *Ralph*, required all actions involving claims for the determination of any questions affecting the title to real property be commenced in the county where the property is located.

After service of the Porter's complaint on the Estate, the Estate appeared in the Pierce County Case and moved to dismiss the action pursuant to CR 12(b) claiming Porter's claims were governed by

Washington's Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act, Chapter 11.96A RCW ("TEDRA") and that his claims for specific performance and declaration of his rights in the Estate's Pierce County property were transitory. The PR's attorney argued that RCW 11.96A.050(5) was a strict venue statute that trumped the requirements RCW 4.12.010(1) and argued that Pierce County was an improper venue, Pierce County Superior Court lacked jurisdiction and Porter's complaint must be dismissed.

Pierce County Judge Tollefson denied the Estate's motion, stayed the Pierce County action and directed Porter to litigate his claims to the Pierce County Properties in the Probate Case in Kittitas County. In response to Judge Tollefson's order, Porter brought a motion to change venue which Judge Tollefson granted on April 28, 2013, ordering the Pierce County case transferred to Kittitas County. The Pierce County Case was subsequently transferred to Kittitas County pursuant to the Order to Transfer Venue and given Kittitas County Superior Court causes No. 13-2-00169-4.

While the process of transferring the Pierce County Case to Kittitas County was proceeding, the Estate filed a Petition in the Probate Case seeking an Order Clearing Title to the Pierce County Property based on the same arguments presented to Judge Tollefson in the Pierce County Case and further argument that Porter's claims are forever barred because

Porter failed to file his complaint in Kittitas County Superior Court within 30 days after the date of the Estate's rejection notice. Porter answered the Estate's Petition arguing his claims were against the Estate, not the decedent, and therefore the nonclaim statute, RCW 11.40.100, did not apply, and if the nonclaim statute applies, Porter's commencement of the Pierce County Case within the 30 day filing period of RCW 11.40.100(1) tolled the statutory limitation period. Kittitas County Superior Court Judge Chmelewski rejected Porter's arguments and entered an Order Clearing Title on May 28, 2013 granting the Personal Representatives Petition Clearing Title, ruling that Porter failed to commence his action against the Estate in the proper court within the 30 day limitation period of RCW 11.40.100(1) and therefore his claims to any right, title and interest in the Pierce County Properties were forever barred. ("Order Clearing Title").

The Order Clearing Title held that all of Porter's claims stated in his Creditor's Claim and in his Answer to the Estate's Petition for Order Clearing Title were forever barred and further declaring that Porter had no claim, right or interest in the Pierce County Properties because Porter did not file his suit in Kittitas County within 30 days after the date of the Rejection Notice. However the Order Clearing Title did not address or dismiss Porter's claims for Unjust Enrichment. Porter's motion for

Reconsideration was denied by letter dated June 19, 2013 and on July 3, 2013 Judge Chmelewski entered an Order awarding the Estate attorney fees in the amount of \$29,650 and costs of \$92.00. On the same day, Judge Chmelewski entered the Order of Dismissal in the Pierce County Case. Porter timely appealed all of Judge Chmelewski's orders and judgments entered in the Probate Case and the Pierce County Case.

Porter appealed these orders and judgments because: (1) Porter properly commenced his action against the Estate in Pierce County under RCW 4.12.010(1); (2) Porter's actions are not claims against the decedent and therefore not subject to the nonclaim limitations of RCW 11.40.100(1); and (3) if Porter's claims are subject to RCW 11.40.100(1), Pierce County Superior Court was a proper court for the commencement of Porter's action against the Estate and his commencement of his action in Pierce County Superior Court within the 30 statutory limitation period tolled the nonclaim limitation period.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Porter and overturned the orders and vacated the judgments made by Kittitas County Superior Court Judge Chmelewski between May 28, 2013 and August 5, 2013.

### II. ANALYSIS OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

## A. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review RAP 13.4(b)

There are four factors that determine when a case will be accepted for review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Factors (1) through (3) do not apply to this case. Therefore review can only be granted under RAP13.4(b)(4) which requires this Court to conclude the case involves "issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." As a result of this Court's decision in *Ralph v. State Dep 't of Natural Resources*, 182 Wn.2d 242, 267, 343 P.3d 342 (2014) (Wiggins, J., dissenting) (citing cases) there are no legal issues meeting the required substantial public interest requirement. It is clear from the Ralph decision that RCW 4.12.010 and TEDRA are not jurisdictional statutes. Therefore there is no public interest in accepting review.

#### B. No Basis for Review

The trial court's decisions were based exclusively on her legal conclusion that filing an action under RCW 4.12.010(1) did not invoke the jurisdiction of the Superior Courts. Further the trial court's decision was based on the legal conclusion that RCW 11.40.100(1) was an exclusive jurisdictional statute and therefore the only proper court for filing an action against Estate was in the county where the probate was started. This erroneous legal conclusion lead to her decide that Porter's filing of his action in Pierce County Superior Court within the 30 nonclaim limitations period of RCW 11.40.100(1) failed to toll the 30 day non-claim

provisions and therefore Porter's claims were barred. The *Ralph* decision resolves the issue of whether filing in any Superior Court invokes the jurisdiction of the Superior Court.

In Young, we explained that article IV, section 6 prevents the legislature from limiting subject matter jurisdiction "as among superior courts." 149 Wn.2d at 134. This is so because under [\*\*\*11] article IV, section 6, "all superior courts ... have the same authority to adjudicate the same 'types of controversies." Dougherty v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 150 Wn.2d 310, 317, 76 P.3d 1183 (2003). In Dougherty, "[w]e reject[ed] the theory that subject matter jurisdiction of the superior court varies from county to county" since "[t]he 'type of case' is the same whether it is heard in Thurston County or some other county." Id. And, we have since affirmed that "[w]here one state resident sues another in tort, the superior courts of Washington State have subject [\*253] matter jurisdiction." Williams v. Leone & Keeble, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 726, 730, 254 P.3d 818 (2011). Ralph at 253 - 253

There is no reason to further debate the issue of whether filing in a Superior court invokes the jurisdiction of the Superior Courts. Therefore the basis of the Kittitas County Superior Court's orders in the present case was a clear error of law because TEDRA statutory language should not be read as jurisdictional under the analysis in *Ralph*. Porter properly and timely filed his action against the Estate of Boisso in Pierce County Superior Court within any applicable statutory limitation periods including the nonclaim statute RCW 11.40.100(1).

There are no sections of TEDRA that declare its provisions are intended to be restrictive of the general jurisdiction of the superior courts.

The title to RCW 11.96A.050(5) states specifically that it is a venue statute: "Venue in proceedings involving probate or trust matters." RCW 11.96A.050(7) states that: "(7) If venue is moved, an action taken before venue is changed is not invalid because of the venue." This subsection (7) confirms that the Order of the Pierce County Superior Court changing the venue of the Porter's Pierce County Case to Kittitas County is valid and enforceable and therefore Judge Chmelewski should not have dismissed Porter's claims based on a failure to file his action in Kittitas County within the 30 days statutory limitation period.

Other sections of TEDRA confirm that the Act is not intended to limit the jurisdiction between the Washington superior courts. RCW 11.96A.040 is titled "Original jurisdiction in probate and trust matters -- Powers of court" and states in part that the "...superior court of every county has original subject matter jurisdiction over the probate of wills and the administration of estates of incapacitated, missing, and deceased individuals in all instances...". This confirms that Pierce County had subject matter jurisdiction over Porter's claims and his filing in that county was a proper commencement of his suit against the Estate which tolled any statutory limitation periods as prescribed in RCW 4.16.170 and CR 3.

# C. Porter's claims to the Pierce County Properties not barred by RCW 11.40.010 and RCW 11.40.100(1).

After Charles Boisso died and a probate of his estate was commenced in November 2012, Porter filed a Creditor Claim form with a copy of Notice of Claim of Interest asserting Porter's claim of interest in the title of the Pierce County Properties pursuant to his alleged real estate contract. Porter's claim form requests the personal representative confirm the remaining balance due the Estate under the contract and the Estate's agreement to execute a deed to Porter upon payment of this remaining balance. In this circumstance, the creditor claim provisions in RCW 11.40 do not apply to Porter's claims to the Pierce County Properties. *Witt v. Young*, 168 Wn. App. 211, 218, 275 P.3d 1218 (2012); citing *Smith v. McLaren*, 58 Wn.2d 907, 909, 365 P.2d 331 (1961); *Olsen v. Roberts*, 42 Wn.2d 862, 865-66, 259 P.2d 418 (1953).

The *Witt* case and the authorities cited therein make it clear a person claiming an interest in the real property of the estate is not subject to the filing limitation periods that apply to creditor's claims under RCW 11.40.010 and RCW 11.40.100(1). In *Witt*, a woman claiming to have been in an unmarried, committed, intimate relationship with the decedent, commenced an action against the Estate for partition of real and personal property. She filed a creditor's claim form stating the basis of her claim to

the real property. The estate rejected her claim and notified her she had to file an action within 30 days or be barred under RCW 11.40.100(1). She commenced an action against the estate after the 30 day period had passed and the estate moved for an order dismissing her action on summary based on RCW 11.40.100(1). The motion was denied by the trial court.

The Court of Appeals in *Witt* affirmed the trial court decision, holding that persons asserting claims to interests in property are not creditors of the estate and therefore the time limitations for filing actions under the creditor claim statutes RCW 11.40.010 and RCW 11.40.100(1) do not apply. The *Witt* court cited *Smith* at 909 *Olsen* at 865-66 as controlling authorities and summarized the legal precedent of these cases as follows:

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